Filed 03-14-2023

Page 1 of 26

**FILED** 03-14-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP001695-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MATTHEW ROBERT MAYOTTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TAYLOR COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANTHONY J. STELLA JR. PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Bradley J. Lochowicz (State Bar No. 1037739)

LOCHOWICZ & VENEMA LLP Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

11 1/2 N. Wisconsin Street Elkhorn, WI 53121-0470 blochowicz@landvlaw.com

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 2 of 26

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. IS MAYOTTE ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA DUE TO BEING ADVISED BY COUNSEL THAT HE COULD APPEAL A PRETRIAL MOTION TO DISMISS FOLLOWING ENTRY OF HIS PLEA.

Trial Court Answered: No.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes that the briefs will fully present and meet the issues on appeal and will fully develop the theories and legal authority governing the issues, and therefore oral argument would be of little value to the court as the law applicable to this case is already well settled.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's decision to permit the withdrawal of a plea is ordinarily a matter of the circuit court's discretion, and this court reviews the circuit court's determination under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶13, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836 (citing State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 219 Wis. 2d 615, ¶32, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998)). Further, in accepting a plea, the circuit court must make findings of fact. The appellate court does not disturb a circuit court's findings of fact, except in situations where those findings are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 6 of 26

the evidence. <u>State v. Bangert</u>, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 283-84, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) (citing <u>State v. Woods</u>, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984)).

However, where "a defendant establishes a denial of a relevant constitutional right . . . withdrawal of the plea is a matter of right." State v. Van Camp, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 139, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997) (citing Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 283). Therefore, if the defendant demonstrates that the plea is constitutionally infirm, "[t]he trial court reviewing the motion to withdraw in such instance has no discretion in the matter." Id. In such cases, this court independently reviews the trial court's determination. see State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, ¶14, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64 (2011).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 14, 2019, JM contacted the Taylor Country Sheriff's Office to report that his brother, Matthew Mayotte, the defendant, had access to the Taylor County Courthouse, 224 S. 2nd Street, in the City of Medford, Taylor County, Wisconsin. (R2:2) JM stated that Matthew stole a set of keys from District Attorney KT. (R2:2) Since the time that Matthew stole the keys, JM alleged that Matthew had gone to the top of the courthouse and changed the time on the tower clock. (R2:2) Matthew apparently took "selfie" photographs of

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 7 of 26

himself on his cellular phone while he was up in the clock tower/dome of the courthouse. (R2:2) While reporting this conduct, JM said Matthew is currently at his house drunk and he is also on bond. (R2:2)

Medford Police Officer Matt Hoops followed up on the information provided by JM. (R2:2) Hoops learned that Taylor County District Attorney's Office employee, AM, lost her keys at the courthouse on September 5, 2019. (R2:2) Taylor County Grounds/Maintenance Director, Jeff Ludwig, confirmed that the courthouse tower clock had been tampered with and the clock tower unit had to be repaired. (R2:2) Officers later learned was further learned that the District Attorney's case file on Matthew's open felony court case 2019CF40 was missing. (R2:2)

Surveillance video from the courthouse showed a person wearing a green hooded sweatshirt enter the District Attorney's Office on the 2nd floor of the courthouse on September 6, 2019 at 3:20 a.m. (R2:2) The suspect was wearing a hood and his face could not be seen in the video. (R2:2) The individual is not carrying anything visible when he enters the District Attorney's Office at approximately 3:35 a.m. (R2:2) The same subject exits the District Attorney's Office carrying what appears to be a case file and leaves the area. (R2:2)

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 8 of 26

Further, on September 14, 2019, officers served a search warrant on Matthew Mayotte's residence, 248 S. 3rd Street, in the City of Medford. (R2:3) Officers were aware that Matthew resides with RP at this address. (R2:3) Upon entering the residence, Detective Aemus Balsis and Deputy Karie Thums of the Taylor County Sher iff's Department started to ascend a set of stairs to the second story of the residence. (R2:3) A person who Balsis recognized as RP appeared at the top of the stairs. (R2:3) RP told officer that Matthew was still in his bedroom upstairs. (R2:3) Matthew was eventually taken into custody (R2:3) Detective Balsis noted that Matthew was intoxicated. (R2:3)

Detective Balsis spoke with RP who admitted that he knew about the missing set of keys and that Matthew had a set of keys belonging to the District Attorney in Taylor County. (R2:3) He further stated that the keys said "DA" on them. (R2:3) RP told officers that Matthew found them in the Taylor County Courthouse parking lot about a week ago. (R2:3) RP said that Matthew's girlfriend, J, told him that Matthew found the keys at the courthouse. (R2:3) J then told RP that Matthew went to the District Attorney's Office and stole his court case file along with the court case file of another unknown person. (R2:3) RP told officers that Matthew did this all by

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 9 of 26

himself and no one else was involved. (R2:3) RP said Matthew burned the court case files in the burn pit outside his house. (R2:3) RP said he had no knowledge of the current location of the keys. (R2:3) Balsis searched the fire pit on the east side of the residence and located the remnants of burnt court paperwork in the fire pit. (R2:3) Balsis later reviewed the documents recovered from the fire pit. (R2:3) Officers determined that the recovered documents were related to a case which did not involve Mayotte but which the case file was missing from the District Attorney's office. (R2:3)

On September 14, 2019, Balsis met with JA, Matthew's girlfriend. (R2:3) JA said Matthew admitted that Matthew told her he found a set of keys belonging to the D.A. somewhere on the courthouse property. (R2:3) She indicated Matthew had possession of the keys on September 6, 2019 as she personally saw them in his possession. (R2:3) She told officers she has no idea where the keys were currently located. (R2:3) She stated she told Matthew to return the keys, but he said it was too late. (R2:3) JA indicated that Matthew told her he used the keys and went into the D.A.'s Office earlier that day and took his court case file and the file of which officers recovered documents from the burn pit. (R2:3-4) JA stated she never saw the files. (R2:4) She also disclosed

that the files were burnt and she assumes Matthew burnt them in the fire pit at his house. (R2:4)

On September 16, 2019, Detective Balsis reviewed Taylor County Courthouse complex surveillance video from the early morning hours of September 6, 2019. (R2:4) That video showed that on September 6, 2019 at 2:52 a.m., a subject is seen entering the building using the north entrance which would have required a key fob. (R2:4) Balsis reported that he could not obtain a description of the subject, as the subject only appeared as a dark silhouette. (R2:4) The video shows the subject ascend the stairway at that location at 3:19 a.m.. (R2:4) The male subject next seen is standing outside the restroom on the 3rd floor near the door leading to the dome/clock tower. (R2:4) The subject is wearing jeans, and a hooded sweatshirt that appears to be green in color. (R2:4) The hood of the sweatshirt is pulled over the subject's head and there is a clear design on the front of the shirt. (R2:4) At 3:20 a.m., the subject is walking down the hallway towards the District Attorney's Office from the courtroom lobby area. (R2:4) The subject is wearing the same clothing as previously seen in the video. (R2:4) At 3:35 a.m., the subject is walking down the hallway towards the courtroom lobby area from the D.A.'s Office. (R2:4) The subject is wearing the same clothing Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 11 of 26

as described above and the subject has paperwork/file(s) in his hand. (R2:4)

On September 16, 2019, Balsis made contact with RP at his residence. (R2:5) Balsis asked RP if Balsis could look through his house for the sweatshirt. (R2:5) RP granted Balsis consent. (R2:5) Balsis located a brown hooded sweatshirt that he believed had a lot of the same similarities of the sweatshirt worn by the suspect in the video. (R2:5) Balsis noted the print on the back of this sweatshirt was in the lower right, while the print on the suspect's sweatshirt on surveillance video was on the lower left. (R2:5) He also noticed this sweatshirt was solid brown on the outside and there were no distinct pattern differences on the outside of the hood like the sweatshirt worn by the suspect. (R2:5); Balsis then turned the brown sweatshirt inside-out and reported what he believed to be significant similarities between the sweatshirt recovered and the appearance of the sweatshirt in the video. (R2:5) RP said the sweatshirt did not belong to him and believed the shirt either belonged to Matthew or his nephew. (R2:5)

# STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 25, 2019, an Information was filed against Mr. Mayotte charging one count of Burglary of a Building,

contrary to sections 943.10(1m)(a) and 939.50(3)(f), stats.; one count of Felony Bail Jumping, contrary to sections 946.49(1)(b) and 939.50(3)(h), stats.; one count of Misdemeanor Theft, contrary to sections 943.20(1)(a) and (3)(a) and 939.51(3)(a), stats.; and two counts of Criminal Damage to Property, contrary to sections 943.01(1) and 939.51(3)(a), stats. (R31:1-2)

On March 9, 2020, Mayotte filed a Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice Due to the Destruction of Apparently Exculpatory Evidence. (R43:1)

On August 28, 2020, the court held an evidentiary hearing. (R82:4) (A:103) Following testimony and argument the court denied Mayotte's motion. (R82:31-33) (A:130-132)

On November 18, 2020, Mayotte entered an Alford plea pursuant to a plea agreement to count one, Burglary of a Building, as set forth in the Information. (R83:9-10) (A:14-15) The court proceeded to sentencing on the same date. (R83:23) (A:28) The court then withheld sentence and placed Mayotte on probation for 30 months with 60 days conditional time consecutive to any other sentence. (R83:28) (A:33)

On March 15, 2022, Mayotte filed a postconviction motion requesting that he be allowed to withdraw his plea. (R101:1)

As a basis for his request, Mayotte asserted that his trial

counsel informed him that he could appeal the decision of the court denying his motion to dismiss post judgment. (R101:2) The defendant entered his plea, despite his continued assertion of innocence with the belief and understanding that he could still appeal the trial court's decision denying his motion to dismiss. (R101:2-3) Mayotte unknowingly waived his ability to appeal the trial court's decision and is now seeking to withdraw his plea as his plea was only entered based on the understanding, through his trial counsel, that he could still appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss after entering his Alford plea. (R101:1-4)

On June 15, 2022, the court held an evidentiary hearing Mayotte's motion to withdraw his alford plea. on (R126:1) (A:36) Αt the hearing, Mayotte testified. (R126:1) (A:36) Mayotte testified that following the trial court's denial of his motion to dismiss, his trial counsel indicated that the court's decision could be appealed. (R126:15,17) (A:50,52) He stated that at the time that he entered his alford plea he was under the impression that he could appeal the trial court's decision denying his motion to dismiss. (R126:15) (A:50) Mayotte indicated that following the entry of his plea his trial counsel informed him that an appeal would be filed. (R126:15) (A:50) The hearing was

continued to allow testimony of trial counsel. (R126:24-26)(A:59-61)

On September 15, 2022, the court heard the testimony of trial counsel. (R128:4) (A:66) Mayotte's Trial indicated that he filed the motion to dismiss as he believed there were grounds for the request. (R128:4) (A:66) He testified that the court denied the motion after a hearing. (R128:8) (A:70) Counsel stated that Mayotte ultimately entered an Alford plea. (R128:9) (A:71) At the hearing, trial counsel could not recall specific discussions had with Mayotte regarding appeal of the court's decision denying the motion, however, he made clear to the court that he filed the motion as a suppression motion with the understanding that the right to appeal would be preserved even with a plea. (R128:10) (A:72) Trial counsel indicated that this was a tactical decision to file as a suppression motion. (R128:10) (A:72) He further acknowledged that he discussed appealing the decision of the trial court on the motion to dismiss. (R128:17) (A:79) Trial counsel indicated that the plan was for Mayotte to appeal regardless of the fact that he entered his plea. (R128:19) (A:81) He further testified that he raised the motion to dismiss, in his mind, as a suppression issue to preserve the issue on appeal but then stated that based upon

his research he knew that Mayotte was waiving the right to appeal the motion by entering an Alford plea. (R128:19) (A:81) Counsel admitted that in filing the notice of intent to seek postconviction relief that he believed Mayotte wished to challenge the issue of the motion to dismiss, that is the spoilation of evidence. (R128:20) (A:82)

Trial counsel later clarified that he recalled having discussions with Mayotte regarding appealing the a separate motion to suppress screenshots on appeal and could not recall any discussions involving the motion to dismiss. (R128:20-21) (A:82-83)

After the close of evidence the trial court ruled that Mayotte's motion would be denied because there was no showing of prejudice that cannot be undone and there was no ineffective assistance of counsel. (R128:26) (A:88) The court concluded that, even if counsel improperly advised Mayotte as to his right to appeal following entry of plea, the court believed that Mayotte would not be succusful on appeal and so there was no prejudice. (R128:26-27) (A:88-89)

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 16 of 26

#### ARGUMENT

I. MAYOTTE SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA AS HIS PLEA WAS INVOULNTARY WHERE COUNSEL ADVISED HIM HE COULD APPEAL A MOTION TO DISMISS DESPITE ENTERING A PLEA AND WHERE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR INFORMING MAYOTTE THAT HE COULD CHALLENGE THE MOTION TO DISMISS POSTJUDGMENT.

Withdrawal of a plea may occur either before sentencing, or after sentencing. When a defendant moves to withdraw a plea before sentencing, "a circuit court should 'freely allow a defendant to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution [would] be substantially prejudiced.'" State v. Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶2, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24 (quoting State v.lig, 2000 WI 6, ¶28, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199); see id., ¶29 ("[T]he court has consistently articulated a liberal rule for plea withdrawal before sentencing . . . ."). However, this rule should not be confused "'with the rule for post-sentence withdrawal where the defendant must show the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice.'" Id., ¶2 n.2 (citing Dudrey v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 480, 483, 247 N.W.2d 105 (1976) (citing State v. Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d 377, 151 N.W.2d 9 (1967))). Here, Mayotte seeks to withdraw his plea after sentencing.

When a defendant moves to withdraw a plea after sentencing, the defendant "carries the heavy burden of

establishing, by clear and convincing evidence, that the trial court should permit the defendant to withdraw the plea to correct a 'manifest injustice.'" State v. Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 714, \$16 (quoting State v. Washington, 176 Wis. 2d 205, 213, 500 N.W.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1993)) Here, the burden is on Mayotte to prove that plea withdrawal is warranted because "the state's interest in finality of convictions requires a high standard of proof to disturb that plea." Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 714, \$16 (quoting Washington, 176 Wis. 2d at 213) (internal quotation marks omitted) Therefore, in order to disturb the finality of an accepted plea, the defendant must show "'a serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea.'" Id. (citing State v. Nawrocke, 193 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 534 N.W.2d 624 (Ct. App. 1995))

The manifest injustice test was first adopted by this court in Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d 377, 386, 390, 151 N.W.2d 9. In that case and others that have succeeded it, Wisconsin courts delineated when a "manifest injustice" occurs and established the situations in which a defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea. State v. Daley sets out the following list of circumstances where manifest injustice occurs:

1. ineffective assistance of counsel;

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 18 of 26

2. the defendant did not personally enter or ratify the plea;

- 3. the plea was involuntary;
- 4. the prosecutor failed to fulfill the plea agreement;
- 5. the defendant did not receive the concessions tentatively or fully concurred in by the court, and the defendant did not reaffirm the plea after being told that the court no longer concurred in the agreement; [or],
- 6. the court had agreed that the defendant could withdraw the plea if the court deviated from the plea agreement.

2006 WI App 81, ¶20 n.3, 292 Wis. 2d 517, 716 N.W.2d 146 (quoting State v. Krieger, 163 Wis. 2d 241, 251 n.6, 471 N.W.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1991)).

Before sentencing, a circuit court should freely allow a defendant to withdraw a plea if there is a "fair and just" reason and it will not substantially prejudice the State.

State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, ¶28, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d

199. This question is left to the sound discretion of the circuit court, id.

After sentencing, a defendant is entitled to withdraw a plea only if necessary to correct a "manifest injustice." See State v. Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶48, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482. The defendant has the burden to prove a manifest injustice by clear and convincing evidence. Id., ¶¶24, 48.

This burden may be met if, for example, the defendant did not enter a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea or if the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶¶37-38, 84, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

Here, Mayotte seeks plea withdrawal on the grounds that his plea was involuntary where his plea was entered with the understanding that he could pursue the denial of his motion to dismiss on appeal and where trial counsel was ineffective where he informed Mayotte that an Alford plea would result in the waiver of his ability to challenge the filed motion to dismiss on appeal.

# A. Mayotte's plea was involuntary where he entered his plea with the understanding that he could appeal the court's denial of his motion to dismiss.

A plea will be considered manifestly unjust if it was not entered knowinglym voluntarily, and intelligently. State v. Giebel, 198 Wis.2d 07, 541 N.W.2d 825 (Ct. App. 1995). In State v. Riekkoff, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a defendant was entitled to withdraw his plea because he had not entered a knowing and voluntary plea where trial counsel informed the defendant that he would be able to appeal the denial of his intent to offer expert testimony at trial

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Appellant Filed 03-14-2023 Page 20 of 26

despite entering a plea. <u>State v. Riekkoff</u>, 112 Wis.2d 119, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

Similar to Riekkoff, Mayotte was informed that he could challenge the court's denial of his motion to dismiss. Mayotte testified that he believed based upon communications with his trial counsel he would be able to challenge the same despite entering his plea. (R126:14-15,17) (A:49-50,52) Trial counsel could not specifically recall the conversations had with Mayotte regarding the ability to challenge the motion to dismiss but acknowledged that this was a major issue for Mayotte. Trial counsel testified he had conversations with Mayotte regarding appeal close to trial. (R128:26) (A:88) It is clear from the record that this was an issue for Mayotte because counsel negotiated resolution of the case by Alford plea. (R128:9) (A:71) This is something that trial counsel acknowledged does not always happen. (R128:9) (A:71) Regardless, trial counsel testified that he knew Mayotte intended to appeal, however, by entering his plea it was unlikely that he would be able to appeal any of the pretrial issues raised in his case. This is consistent with trial counsel's "tactical decision" to rause a challenge as a to preserve appellate suppression issue (R128:10) (A:72) Counsel also acknowledged making effort to

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