Filed 05-09-2023 Page 1 of 24

FILED 05-09-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP1695-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW ROBERT MAYOTTE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR
PLEA WITHDRAWAL ENTERED IN THE
TAYLOR COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE
HONORABLE ANTHONY J. STELLA, JR., PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. In the interest of finality and judicial economy, this Court should overlook the guilty plea waiver rule and address Mayotte's *Youngblood* claim on the merits.
  - A. Remanding for plea withdrawal simply so Mayotte could go to trial to properly preserve for a subsequent appeal the issue of whether the charges should have been dismissed pretrial would waste this Court's, the trial court's, and the parties' scarce resources.

"The general rule is that a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects. including constitutional claims." State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (citations omitted). "Courts refer to this as the guilty-plea-waiver rule." *Id.* The rule exists because a plea is "a break in the chain of events which has proceeded [the plea] in the criminal process," and when the defendant agrees to resolve his case with a plea, "the State acquires a legitimate expectation of finality in the conviction thereby obtained." Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973); see also Lefkowitz v. Newsome, 420 U.S. 283, 289 (1975). But waiver rules are also meant to "efficiently guard[] [the courts'] scarce judicial resources." State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 206, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997). Accordingly, "[l]ike the general rule of waiver, the guilty-plea-waiver rule is a rule of administration and does not involve the court's power to address the issues raised." *Kelty*, 294 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 18. This Court has thus exercised its discretion and declined to apply the rule, when appropriate. State v. Tarrant, 2009 WI App 121, ¶ 6, 321 Wis. 2d 69, 772 N.W.2d 750.

Overlooking the rule is appropriate here. There are no factual issues yet to be resolved regarding the character of the lost surveillance tape. Tarrant, 321 Wis. 2d 69, ¶ 6. And,

assuming Mayotte could prevail on his plea withdrawal claim,<sup>7</sup> returning this case to the trial court for a full trial simply so Mayotte can properly preserve for appeal the issue of whether no trial ever should have happened to begin with serves neither the State's interest in finality nor the judicial system's interest in preserving its scarce resources. Resolution of the *Youngblood* issue now would thus best "serve the interests of justice" in this case. *Id.* ¶ 6.

### B. The circuit court was correct that the lost surveillance tape did not have any readily apparent exculpatory value, and Mayotte has never alleged bad faith.

When the State fails to preserve evidence, that failure violates a defendant's due process rights when the State either: "(1) fails to preserve evidence that is apparently exculpatory or (2) acts in bad faith by failing to preserve evidence that is potentially exculpatory." State v. Luedtke, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 53, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592; see also Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57–58 (1988). If either of those prongs are satisfied, the trial court has discretion to sanction the State for its violation, including dismissal of the case when appropriate. See, e.g., State v. Huggett, 2010 WI App 69, ¶¶ 27–28, 324 Wis. 2d 786, 783 N.W.2d 675. Whether the trial court properly applied the constitutional standard to the facts when it denied Mayotte's motion is a question of constitutional fact this Court reviews de novo. State v. Greenwold, 189 Wis. 2d 59, 66, 525 N.W.2d 294 (Ct. App. 1994) (Greenwold II).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The State does not concede that Mayotte should prevail on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim to withdraw his plea and addresses that claim in Issue II. The State does believe, however, that addressing the underlying *Youngblood* claim now is the most efficient way to resolve this case.

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 13 of 24

Mayotte relied on the first prong of this test—that the the video was apparently exculpatory—and disavowed any argument that the State acted in bad faith to destroy the video. (R. 43:2–3.) To satisfy this standard, the evidence must "possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed, and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 489 (1984). Evidence does not have apparent exculpatory value if it would have provided "simply an avenue of investigation that might have led in any number of directions." Hubanks v. Frank, 392 F.3d 926, 931 (7th Cir. 2004) (quoting Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 57 n.\*). Nor does the State have "an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58. Thus, "unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law." Greenwold I, 181 Wis. 2d at 885 (quoting Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58).

Here, the circuit court correctly determined that the lost surveillance video did not have any readily apparent exculpatory value and was merely potentially useful to Mayotte, thus Mayotte did not meet his burden to establish a due process violation occurred when the courthouse maintenance office failed to preserve it. (R. 82:7–8, 19, 32.) This was not a situation where the character of the evidence was completely unknown—some screenshots from the video remained, which the State provided with its response to Mayotte's motion. (R. 51; 52; 53.) They show that the video was as the State described it: "a grainy video recorded in poor lighting showing an individual with a hooded sweatshirt with the hood pulled up," mostly obscuring the individual's face. (R. 45:5.) The designs on the individual's clothing were

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 14 of 24

distinctive in the video, but his face was not, because the bulk of the area was dark and the video quality was poor. (R. 47:8–9.) And as Detective Balsis, who had watched the whole video before the courthouse maintenance office inadvertently overwrote it, expressed at both the preliminary hearing and the motion hearing that due to the dark and grainy quality it was not possible from the video to make a positive identification of who was in the courthouse. (R. 47:8–11; 82:8–9.) Law enforcement identified Mayotte as the likely suspect not due to the video, but due to the wealth of other evidence implicating him and the fact that there was nothing in the video that would eliminate him as the perpetrator. (R. 47:5–6, 10–16; 82:8–10.)

In other words, there was nothing in the video that would cause law enforcement to believe the video was at all exculpatory. (R. 82:19–20.) Mayotte was not excluded by the video—the person captured was a Caucasian male whose build wasn't obviously different than Mayotte's. (R. 82:20–21.) And considering that: (1) Mayotte could not be excluded as the person on the video; (2) Mayotte's own brother turned him in for the burglary; (3) his girlfriend and roommate both confirmed that Mayotte was the perpetrator; and (4) police found the remnants of the stolen court files and a sweatshirt matching the one identifiable on the video at his residence; the circuit court appropriately found that law enforcement would have no reason to believe the video was anything but inculpatory. (R. 82:19-20.) Stated differently, the video did not have an exculpatory value that would have been apparent to law enforcement before it was lost.

True, the remaining still shots show that the person on the video could not be definitively identified. (R. 51; 52; 53.) Mayotte himself acknowledged this. (R. 82:13–14.) But the video did not show, or really even suggest, that the person on the video actually *was not* Mayotte, which is what would be necessary for the video to have an exculpatory value that was

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 15 of 24

apparent before the evidence was lost. (R. 82:20-21); see Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58 (confining law enforcement's obligation to preserve evidence pursuant to the Due Process Clause "to that class of cases . . . in which the police themselves by their conduct indicate that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant"). Here, the police did not try to destroy or conceal the video—the State itself was relying on the contents of the video as part of its own case in chief, and sought to introduce the screenshots that remained after it became clear that the video was no longer available. (R. 2:2, 4; 81:18-23, 33-36.) It would make no sense for the State to want to introduce this evidence if it were apparent that it would exonerate Mayotte. The video was not apparently exculpatory because no one could say one way or the other who the individual in the video was; both sides believed it helped their case.

Mayotte's argument to the contrary was flawed. First, it relied upon the wrong legal standard. Mayotte claimed that evidence is apparently exculpatory anytime it "might be expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense." (R. 43:3 (citing Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 488).) However, the Supreme Court subsequently significantly narrowed that statement and clarified in Youngblood that missing evidence is not apparently exculpatory when all that can be said about it that it might have exonerated the defendant if it had showed what the defendant hoped. Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 57–58. Second, that was all that Mayotte argued in support of his request for dismissal—that the video's exculpatory value was apparent because defense counsel could think of ways it could have been exculpatory if the video would have supported them (such as the perpetrator having a particular gait), and since the video was no longer available, no one could say whether those were present or not. (R. 82:27–29.) But that is the exact type of unknowable and disputed facts about lost evidence that the Supreme Court itself characterized as

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 16 of 24

making the evidence merely "potentially useful" and not "apparently exculpatory." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 57–58. As the circuit court correctly parsed, all Mayotte established was that the video was not incriminating. (R. 82:31.) That, however, does not make it exculpatory—it simply puts the value of the evidence in equipoise between exculpatory and incriminating. At best, then, the video was merely "potentially useful" to Mayotte, which required him to show that law enforcement destroyed it in bad faith to establish a Due Process violation. *Id.* at 58. And Mayotte has always disavowed that the video was destroyed in bad faith. (R. 43:3; 82:13.)

Accordingly, the circuit court appropriately denied Mayotte's pretrial motion to dismiss the charges. It would thus work no manifest injustice to refuse to allow Mayotte to withdraw his plea in order to go to trial just to properly preserve and pursue this claim, because it would fail on its merits.

- II. Mayotte cannot show that counsel was either deficient or prejudicial in failing to advise him that entering an *Alford* plea would waive direct appellate review of his pretrial motion to dismiss the charges.
  - A. Riekkoff is not the proper framework for this case.

Mayotte contended below that his counsel was ineffective for failing to inform him that he would waive his ability to appeal the circuit court's ruling on his *Youngblood* motion if he entered a plea, and had he known that, he would have proceeded to trial. (R. 101; 102.) Now, he primarily argues simply that his plea was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered because he misunderstood the guilty plea waiver rule, and he seeks reversal based on *State v*.

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 17 of 24

*Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983). (Mayotte's Br. 16–21.) This argument is misplaced.

Wisconsin law has long recognized that a defendant's failure to comprehend the collateral consequences of his plea that is based on his own misunderstanding, and not on any affirmative misadvice from the court, the state, or defense counsel—like Mayotte's here—does not render a plea unknowing, unintelligent, or involuntary. See State v. Brown, 2004 WI App 179, ¶ 12, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543 (holding that a defendant's misunderstanding of the collateral consequences of a plea that result only from the defendant's own inaccurate interpretation of what would happen do not render a plea unknowing or involuntary); see also State v. Rodriguez, 221 Wis. 2d 487, 498, 585 N.W.2d 701 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing *Birts v. State*, 68 Wis. 2d 389, 396, 228 N.W.2d 351 (1975)) (same). As explained below, Riekkoff, which involved both affirmative misadvice and a legally impossible plea, is readily distinguishable from this case. Mayotte's claim should thus properly proceed as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim pursuant to State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 313–14, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) and Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985).

In *Riekkoff*, the defendant's plea was expressly conditioned on a reservation of the right to appellate review of a pretrial order denying the admission of the defendant's proffered evidence. *Riekkoff*, 112 Wis. 2d at 120–21. "[T]he prosecutor agreed to the conditional plea and the reservation" of the defendant's right to appeal the ruling, "and the trial judge acquiesced in the arrangement." *Id.* at 121. In other words, the right to appellate review of the evidentiary issue was a critical component of the plea agreement itself, and at that time, it remained an open question whether Wisconsin law permitted such conditional guilty pleas. *Id.* at 121–22. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that, as a matter of public policy, the parties and the trial court could not impose upon

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 18 of 24

the appellate courts an obligation to review an otherwise waived issue by agreeing to explicitly condition the plea upon appellate review. *Id.* at 124–25, 130. The Court thus held that the defendant in *Riekkoff* must be allowed to withdraw his plea if he wished, because he clearly "pleaded guilty believing that he was entitled to an appellate review of the reserved issue" after being told by both counsel and the court that it would be addressed, and being able to do so was "a primary inducement for Riekkoff's guilty plea." *Id.* at 128–29.

So *Riekkoff* does not stand for the proposition that a defendant may automatically withdraw his or her plea any time the defendant is unaware of or misunderstands the guilty plea waiver rule. It stands for the proposition that a defendant whose plea is entered upon affirmative misadvice about the plea's effect that was endorsed by the court and both parties does not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter that plea, and thus they may withdraw it. *See id.* at 128; *see also Brown*, 276 Wis. 2d 559, ¶¶ 10–12.

That is not what happened here. The record shows that no one—not the court, the prosecutor, or defense counsel ever suggested at any point that the plea rested in any degree upon Mayotte's post-judgment ability to appeal the circuit court's pretrial Youngblood ruling. (R. 69; 72:2-4; 83:6-23, 27–29; 84:3–5.) There was no discussion among the parties or advice from the court or counsel stating that Mayotte's claim would survive entry of his plea. The ability to appeal the Youngblood ruling was never mentioned at all until postconviction proceedings. (R. 69; 72:2–4; 83:6–23, 27–29; 84:3-5.) The court went through the plea colloquy with Mayotte, and he said he understood the plea, its direct consequences, and was satisfied with his attorney's advice about entering it. (R. 83:6–23.) Mayotte's true complaint, and the one he actually pursued below, is that his trial counsel allegedly performed deficiently in failing to ensure that he fully understood the guilty plea waiver rule before he pleaded,

Case 2022AP001695 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-09-2023 Page 19 of 24

and had he known that he could not raise the issue after pleading he would have proceeded to trial. (R. 101:2–3.) That puts this case squarely under *Bentley*, not *Riekkoff*.

## B. The record conclusively demonstrates that trial counsel did not perform deficiently and that Mayotte cannot establish prejudice.

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